DIDACT TRIAL PROTOCOL

IRAS number: 321203



Full Title: Surgery compared with sling immobilisation in the management of adults with a displaced fracture of the distal clavicle (DIDACT): a multi-centre, pragmatic, parallel group, non-inferiority, randomised controlled trial

Short Title / Acronym: DIsplaced DistAl Clavicle Trial - DIDACT

Trial registration:
IRAS number: 321203
ISRCTN number: 11981704
REC number: 23/EE/0123

Sponsor reference number: 143349

Edge number: 143349

Protocol version: 2.0dated 17 June 2024

Funding: This study is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health

Technology Assessment (HTA) Programme (Grant Number NIHR150159)

Sponsor: University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust

Authorised by:

Name: Harvinder Singh Role: Chief Investigator

Signature: Q Date:

17 June 2024

Name: Role: Sponsor Representative

Signature: Date:

Amendment history

Amendment number	Revised protocol version number and date	Details of key changes made (including if justification required)
Not applicable	Not applicable	Added text to Section 4.3.2 to summarise post- operative sling care for participants who receive surgery.
Not applicable	Not applicable	Added at baseline about a participant's satisfaction with their shoulder appearance so can be compared with this at 12 months.
Not applicable	Not applicable	Added at both baseline and 12 months whether for participants it is painful or sensitive to touch the area of the broken collarbone.
Not applicable	Not applicable	Modified the eligibility criteria so that the lower age limit is 18 rather than 16. This is because of requirements around consent and GDPR in 16 to 17 year olds. Being able/willing to consent and unable/willing to consent have been added. Additionally, that participants must not be related to any member of the local study team because of past experiences at the Sponsor site.
Substantial amendment 1	V2.0_2024.06.17	1. Inclusion of an A&E staff flyer. 2. Inclusion of reference to the Community Health Index for contacting patients for follow-up in Scotland. 3. Reference to a letter and flyer to encourage participant attendance at the 12 month follow-up. 5. Inclusion of an infographic to complement the Patient Information Sheet. 6. Added about how participant information at follow-up can be accessed using routine NHS mechanisms from hospitals other than the recruiting site. 7. Expanded obtaining patient consent to allow this to be done remotely. 8. Collection of fracture classification to be done after randomisation, if necessary.

List of abbreviations

AE Adverse Event

IRAS number: 321203

API Associate Principal Investigator
BESS British Elbow and Shoulder Society
BOA British Orthopaedic Association

BOTA British Orthopaedic Trainee Association

CACE Complier average causal effect

CC Coracoclavicular

CDC Centres for Disease Control

CONSORT Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
CORNET Collaborative Orthopaedic Research Network

DASH Disability of Arm, Shoulder and Hand

eCRF electronic Case Record Form

EFFORT European Federation of National Associations of Orthopaedics and

Traumatology

EUSSER European Society for Shoulder and Elbow Rehabilitation

GCP Good Clinical Practice GIRFT Getting It Right First Time **HEAP** Health economic analyses plan **Hospital Episode Statistics** HES Health Research Authority HRA HRG Healthcare Research Group Health Technology Assessment HTA Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio **ICER Independent Data Monitoring Committee IDMC**

ITT Intention-to-treat

MHRA Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency

NHS National Health Service

NICE National Institute for Clinical Excellence

NRS Numeric Rating Scale

PAG Patient/Public Advisory Group

PI Principal Investigator
PIS Patient information sheet
QALY Quality-adjusted Life Years

RoSPA Royal Society of Prevention of Accidents

RCT Randomised controlled trial REC Research Ethics Committee

ROM Range of movement

SAC Speciality Advisory Committees

SAE Serious Adverse Event SAP Statistical Analyses Plan

SECEC European Society for Surgery of the Shoulder and the Elbow

SWAT Study Within A Trial
TMG Trial Management Group
TSC Trial Steering Committee

UK United Kingdom YTU York Trials Unit

Contents

Ame	endmen	t history	2
List	of abbre	eviations	3
Trial	Synops	is	6
DIDA	ACT trial	flowchart	8
Stud	ly Asses	sment Schedule	9
1	Back	ground and rationale	10
	1.1	General introduction	10
	1.2	Review of existing evidence	10
2	Rese	arch question and objectives	12
	2.1	Research question	12
	2.2	Primary objective	12
	2.3	Secondary objectives	12
3	Trial	design	12
	3.1	Internal pilot	12
4	Metl	nods	13
	4.1	Setting	13
	4.2	Target population	13
	4.3	Trial treatments	14
	4.4	COVID-19 mitigation	15
	4.5	Outcomes	15
	4.6	Sample size	17
	4.7	Participant recruitment	18
	4.8	Randomisation	20
5	Data	management	20
	5.1	Data collection methods	20
	5.2	Proposed time period for retention of relevant trial documentation	22
	5.3	Embedded Study Within A Trial (SWAT)	22
6	Stati	stical methods	23
	6.1	Internal pilot	23
	6.2	Statistical analysis full trial	23
7	Econ	omic analysis	23
8	Proje	ect management	25
	8.1	Trial Management Group	25
	8.2	Trial Steering and Independent Data Monitoring Committee	25

9	Sa	tety monitoring	.26
	9.1	Definitions	.26
	9.2	Collection, recording and reporting of adverse events	26
10	0	Research governance	.27
	10.1	Ethical considerations and approval	.27
	10.2 regu	Proposed action to comply with the medicines for human use (clinical trials) lations 2004	.27
	10.3	Regulatory compliance	.27
	10.4	Patient confidentiality	.28
	10.5	Trial Closure	.28
	10.6	Annual progress reports	.28
	10.7	Urgent safety measures	.28
	10.8	Indemnity	.28
1:	1	Patient and public involvement	.29
12	2	Plan of investigation and timetable	.29
13	3	Finance	.29
14	4	Dissemination policy	.30
	14.1	Anticipated impact of the research	.31
1!	5	Funding acknowledgement and disclaimer	32
10	6	References	.32

Trial Synopsis

Acronym	DIDACT			
Full title	Surgery compared with sling immobilisation in the			
	management of adults with a displaced fracture of the			
	distal clavicle (DIDACT): a multi-centre, pragmatic,			
	parallel group, non-inferiority, randomised controlled trial			
Type of trial	Non-CTIMP			
Trial design	A two-arm, pragmatic, multi-centre, randomised, non-			
	inferiority trial with parallel groups, allocated on a 1:1			
	ratio and stratified by age (<65 or ≥65 years). It includes			
	a 12 month internal pilot and a full health economic			
	analysis.			
Setting	Major Trauma Centres and Trauma Units within the			
	United Kingdom. Patients will be identified either in the			
	Emergency Department or Fracture Clinic and /or the orthopaedic trauma meeting and will attend for routine			
	out-patient appointment at 6 weeks, 3 and 12 months.			
Target population	Adults with a radiological diagnosis of a displaced			
. a. got population	fracture of the distal clavicle that does not involve the			
	acromioclavicular joint.			
Intervention	Surgery – locking plate fixation, with or without			
	coracoclavicular (CC) sling, or CC reconstruction alone			
	when the distal fragment is very small.			
Comparator	Sling immobilization – upper limb support with a sling,			
	typically for 2 to 4 weeks, followed by surgical fixation if			
	symptomatic non-union of the fracture typically at the 3			
	month follow-up.			
Primary outcome	Patient-reported functional outcome measured by the			
	Disability of Arm, Shoulder and Hand (DASH) at 12			
Consendant outcomes	months.			
Secondary outcomes	DASH score at 6 weeks, 3 and 6 months, and over 12 months; Shoulder pain, EQ5D-5L at 6 weeks, 3, 6, and			
	12 months; complications (e.g. infections, re-operations)			
	at 6 weeks, 3 and 12 months; fracture healing at 3 and			
	12 months; patient preferences, satisfaction with			
	appearance of their shoulder/sensitivity or pain to touch,			
	and range of movement at 12 months.			
Estimated recruitment period	_			
Duration per patient	12 months			
Estimated total trial duration	50 months (1 November 2022 to 31 December 2026)			
Planned trial sites	Minimum of 23 sites			
Planned sample size	214 patients (107 in each group)			
Eligibility criteria	Inclusion criteria:			
	Aged 18 years or older.			
	Displaced extra-articular (outside the joint) fracture of the distal elevide based on routing			
	fracture of the distal clavicle based on routine			
	radiographic assessment, with or without polytrauma.			
	 Able and willing to give consent. 			
	Able and willing to give consent.			
	Exclusion criteria:			
	The index injury is >21 days.			
	ino maok injury to . Et aayor			

 An upper extremity fracture both more proximal or distal to the same affected shoulder e.g. floating shoulder. The fracture is open. The fracture is complicated by local tumour deposits. The fracture is associated with a nerve palsy or
vessel injury.
 Comorbidities precluding surgery or anaesthesia.
 Unable or unwilling to give consent.
 Must not be related to any member of the local
study team.

Set up 1-6 months; internal pilot 7-18 months

Main study: Recruitment months 7-32; 12 month follow-up 33-44 months

DIDACT trial flowchart

IRAS number: 321203

Exclusion criteria: Patients with displaced • The index injury is >21 days Inclusion criteria: distal clavicle fractures • An upper extremity fracture that is both Aged ≥18 years more proximal or distal to the affected Displaced extrashoulder e.g. floating shoulder Baseline articular (outside the • The fracture is open joint) fracture of the Demographics • The fracture is complicated by local distal clavicle DASH pre- & post-injury NRS (Pain), EQ-5D-5L tumour deposits including polytrauma • The fracture is associated with a nerve Treatment preferences Able and willing to palsy or vessel injury Collar bone appearance and give consent · Comorbidities precluding surgery or pain/sensitivity to touch anaesthesia • Unable or unwilling to give consent Randomise • Must not be related to any member of 214 patients the local study team Surgery (n=107) Sling immobilisation Locking plate with or without (n=107)coracoclavicular (CC) suturing With routine assessment for or CC alone surgery if bone not healing 6 week follow-up Internal pilot includes: • DASH, NRS (pain), EQ-5D-5L Recruitment • Resource use & Return to work/normal rate/site/month Complications · Number of sites open · Total number recruited 3 month follow-up · Bone healing Abbreviations: • DASH, NRS (pain), EQ-5D-5L DASH is Disability of Arm, • Resource use & Return to work/normal Shoulder and Hand Complications NRS is Numeric Rating Scale ROM is Range of 6 month follow-up movement • DASH, NRS (pain), EQ-5D-5L Resource use & Return to work/normal 12 month follow-up (primary) · Bone healing & shoulder ROM • DASH, NRS (pain), EQ-5D-5L • Health care resource use & Return to work/normal

- Satisfaction with shoulder appearance and pain/sensitivity to touch & treatment preferences
- Complications

₩ **Analyses Draft HTA Report;** dissemination

Page 8 of 36

Study Assessment Schedule

Assessment	Baseline (Clinic)	Allocation (surgery)	6 weeks (Clinic / remote)	3 months (Clinic / remote)	6 months (remote/no clinic)	12 months (Clinic / remote) Primary
Enrolment:						
Eligibility screen	X					
Informed consent	X					
Randomisation	X					
Treatment:						
Treatment allocation		X				
Assessments:						
Baseline demographics	X					
Operation Data		X				
DASH ¹	X		Χ	X	X	X
NRS ² (shoulder pain)	X		Χ	X	X	X
EQ-5D-5L	X		Χ	X	X	X
Shoulder range of movement						X
Fracture union/non-union/malunion				X		X
Patient preferences	X					X
Patient satisfaction with appearance of shoulder	X					X
and sensitivity/pain to touch						
Complications e.g. infections, re-operations			Χ	X		X
Resource Use			Χ	X	X	X
Return to work and normal activities			Χ	X	X	X
Adverse events			Χ	X		X

¹ Disability of Arm, Shoulder and Hand ² Numeric Rating Scale

1 Background and rationale

1.1 General introduction

IRAS number: 321203

Fractures of the clavicle, primarily occur in young males, and constitute 2.6–5% of all fractures in adults.(1) Distal clavicle fractures account for 20-25% of all clavicle fractures.(1, 2) The outer part of the collarbone breaks and separates and these fractures can be called displaced, in that the bones fail to line up. This ruptures the ligaments connecting the collarbone to the shoulder blade (coracoclavicular complex) and can be classified as Neer's II and V.(3) These are currently treated with an operation involving fracture fixation or with sling immobilisation.(4, 5)

Surgery, where the bone fragments are realigned and fixed into place, may reduce the risk of the fracture not healing (non-union) and may lead to quicker recovery. However, patients treated with surgery are at risk of complication; (estimated at 48%)(6) including infection, plate breakage and refracture after metal removal. A second operation may be required to remove the metalwork due to prominence, (7) leading to a further impact on patients' lives including work activities and caring responsibilities. Non-operative treatment, using a sling, carries a low risk of complications (15%) and has a relatively low immediate treatment cost.(6, 8) Sling treatment requires a period of immobilization, typically between 2 and 4 weeks, to restrict activities whilst providing comfort during the early painful stages of healing. The risk of the bone not healing (non-union) with non-operative treatment is up to 35-40% but this appears to cause minimal functional deficits in most individuals.(7) If a non-union occurs following sling treatment, and surgical intervention is indicated, it can prolong the treatment period and increase costs.(9)

Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) for 2019 for patients who are operated on show that there were 9,410 finished consultant episodes for a fracture of the clavicle with 2,353 (25%) being a distal fracture and 1,176 (50%) of these being displaced. Therefore, in a typical year there are 1,176 patients who have surgery in our fracture population. Healthcare Research Group (HRG) codes estimate the cost of the index operation to be £3,725 and the cost of removing metalwork to be £2,551 which can apply to approximately 45% of patients. This is in contrast to the cost of £156 per patient for sling immobilization using HRG codes. The cost of surgical fixation in our fracture population to the NHS is approximately £6 million per annum.

At a time when the National Health Service (NHS) is under more pressure than ever to manage the impact of COVID-19, it is important to know whether a potentially cheaper, safe and non-surgical option can replace more costly and invasive surgery and to optimise the use of staff and theatre time for patients who do need surgery. This randomised controlled trial (RCT) will answer the question as to whether a non-surgical pathway is not inferior to surgery for the treatment of adults with a displaced fracture of the distal end of the clavicle. The concomitant health economic evaluation will identify which is the most cost-effective treatment option to the NHS.

1.2 Review of existing evidence

Routine fixation of fractures to the middle third of the clavicle can reduce the risk of non-union but is not cost-effective.(10, 11) However, displaced distal clavicle fractures are associated with rupture of coracoclavicular ligaments and considered unstable and therefore a different patient population.

A systematic review (search end date; 27 January, 2021)(12) identified no RCTs comparing surgery and sling immobilisation for displaced distal clavicle fractures. The highest level of evidence was 13 prospective studies, followed by 46 retrospective cohort studies. The limited evidence from this and other systematic reviews (7, 13, 14) have shown equivocal outcomes for patients who have developed a non-union of their distal clavicle fracture when compared to those patients who have healed.(15) Despite the lack of evidence, more distal clavicle fractures are now treated with surgery than non-surgical treatments with data suggesting a worldwide trend to increasing use of surgical fixation.(7, 8)

IRAS number: 321203

There is only one recent RCT(6) studying distal clavicle fractures from Canada where 57 patients were recruited and found that more patients in the surgical group went on to union (bone healing) within 12 months compared to sling immobilisation (95% vs 64%, p=0.02). Despite the significantly higher non-union in the non-operative group, only 6 patients (6/30, 20%) had further surgical procedures. Twelve patients in the operative group underwent a second operation for hardware removal (12/27, 44%). There were no significant differences between groups in patient reported outcomes. However, the study was underpowered and the surgical intervention included locking plates or hook plates; there is evidence that a hook plate may not be as effective as a locking plate.(12-15) Nor was there an economic evaluation.

The James Lind Alliance(16) and United Kingdom (UK) orthopaedic trauma network(17) have identified the treatment of distal clavicle fractures with or without surgery as a high priority research topic. The importance of this research question has further been confirmed in our national survey of shoulder surgeons from the British Elbow and Shoulder Society (BESS) who agree there is a need for this trial and a lack of consensus on how to manage this patient population. Almost half of the 152 surgeons who took part stated they manage 50% or more of these patients with surgery. The survey data also shows of the 152 responses, 63% (84 respondents) reported using the distal clavicle locking plate alone, 48% a locking plate with coracoclavicular reconstruction, 37% coracoclavicular reconstruction only, and 33% clavicle hook plate.

For the proposed trial the surgical arm will comprise of the locking plate (with or without coracoclavicular (CC) reconstruction) or CC reconstruction alone. Hook plate will not be included in either of the trial arms. The following explains our decision for this:

- 1. We have a minimum of 23 sites at which a surgeon has agreed to be a Principal Investigator (PI) of a study that compares the proposed surgical approach with sling immobilisation:
- 2. BESS, that includes surgeons who are trained in this type of shoulder surgery, have adopted the proposed trial into their portfolio of trials as they have agreed it is of clinical importance, methodologically sound in their opinion and should be useful to their membership in the care of these patients;
- 3. There is evidence that locking plate is superior to hook plate (7, 12);
- 4. Including the hook plate as a third trial arm would prohibitively increase the cost of the study. Furthermore, a detailed audit of 18 hospitals identified that centres either exclusively or predominantly use locking plates or hook plates. There is, therefore, likely to be a significant lack of surgeon equipoise to randomise between these two surgical approaches;
- 5. Including the hook plate in the surgical arm of the trial would not provide sufficient statistical power to compare the effectiveness of the two surgical approaches and would be a non-random comparison. The different surgical options could negate each other and lead to the false conclusion that the non-surgical approach is not inferior to surgery;
- 6. Focusing on locking plate or CC reconstruction should future proof the study as the BESS survey shows this is the most common approach and we expect this is likely to increase in use with the decline of hook plates;

7. Our patient representatives discouraged including hook plates as these need a further operation to be removed due to the risk of damage to the rotator cuff muscles which in the long term could slow the speed of recovery and be of more pain and burden to patients. The proposed trial design should be more acceptable to patients and is centred around what is important to them.

2 Research question and objectives

2.1 Research question

IRAS number: 321203

In adults with a radiological diagnosis of a displaced fracture of the distal clavicle that does not involve the acromioclavicular joint is sling immobilisation non-inferior to surgical fixation using a patient self-reported functional outcome at 12 months?

2.2 Primary objective

To determine whether self-reported functional outcome, measured by the Disability of Arm, Shoulder and Hand (DASH) at 12 months, following sling immobilisation is not inferior to surgical fixation in adults with a displaced fracture of the distal clavicle.

2.3 Secondary objectives

- Confirm the feasibility of the study in a 12 month internal pilot to obtain robust estimates of site set up and recruitment.
- Determine the effectiveness of surgery versus sling immobilisation in adults with a displaced fracture of the distal clavicle.
- Determine the cost-effectiveness of the two treatments to inform the most efficient provision of future care and to describe the resource impact on the NHS.

3 Trial design

DIDACT is a two-arm, pragmatic, multi-centre, randomised, non-inferiority trial with parallel groups, allocated on a 1:1 ratio using random permuted blocks of random block size and stratified by age (<65 or ≥65 years).(18) There will be a 12 month internal pilot to assess the assumptions about site set up and recruitment. The trial will include a full health economic evaluation. As with many surgical trials, it will not be feasible to blind patients, surgeons, or outcome assessors to the treatment allocation.

3.1 Internal pilot

We will undertake a 12 month internal pilot study to test our assumptions about recruitment to confirm whether the trial is feasible (see Table 1). The aim is to have set up all 23 sites, which we believe is realistic due to efficiencies in using remote Site Initiation Visits. The monthly recruitment projections are adjusted to account for a phased set-up of study sites. Setting up these sites during the pilot will allow us to recruit 60 patients i.e. 27% of the overall target. The key progression criteria are presented below where "Green" is continue to main trial, "Amber" is review and implement methods to meet the target and "Red" is stop, unless mitigating circumstances.

Table 1: Progression criteria for the internal pilot

Progression criteria	Red	Amber	Green
% Threshold			
Trial recruitment	<50%	50-99%	100%
Recruitment rates per site per month	<0.25	0.25-<0.5	0.5
Number of sites opened	<12	12-22	23
Total number of participants recruited	<30	30-59	60

Secondary reasons for undertaking the internal pilot are to closely monitor: a) the number of eligible patients; b) that all eligible patients are being approached to take part; c) reasons for patients being excluded; d) the length of time spent discussing with a patient their consent into the study, reasons for not consenting and the consent rate; e) cross-overs between trial arms when participants do not receive their originally assigned treatment, and the need to inflate the sample size, if necessary; f) the extent to which participants in the sling immobilization group go on to have subsequent surgery as part of that established pathway of care and the reasons why this decision has occurred; g) follow-up rates of participant completed questionnaires; h) ensuring the participating sites are provided with enough training and documentation; i) ensuring that all suitable surgeons at a site are actively taking part in the trial and to find out if not why not. Reviewing screening logs (for the numbers screened, eligible, approached and randomised) including variability between sites in the proportion of undisplaced versus displaced distal clavicle fractures,(19) Case Record Forms and following up with sites will allow us to monitor the above during the pilot.(20)

At the end of the pilot phase, data required to assess the trial against the pre-specified progression criteria will be summarised descriptively. No formal hypothesis testing will be undertaken, nor will this involve looking at any primary or secondary outcome data. Our independent oversight committees will review progress and recommend that the trial continue without amendments, continue with major/minor amendments (for example, increase the number of participating sites), or discontinue.

4 Methods

IRAS number: 321203

4.1 Setting

We will recruit from a minimum of 23 Major Trauma Centres and Trauma Units within the UK. Patients will be identified in hospital when presenting with their index shoulder fracture, either in the Emergency Department or Fracture Clinic and /or the orthopaedic trauma meeting. Trial participants will attend for routine out-patient appointment at 6 weeks, 3 and 12 months.

4.2 Target population

Adults with a radiological diagnosis of a displaced fracture of the distal clavicle that does not involve the acromioclavicular joint.

4.2.1 Inclusion criteria

IRAS number: 321203

- Patients aged 18 years or older.
- Displaced extra-articular (outside the joint) fracture of the distal clavicle based on routine radiographic assessment, with or without polytrauma.
- Able and willing to give consent.

4.2.2 Exclusion criteria

Patients will be excluded if any of the following apply:

- The index injury is >21 days.
- An upper extremity fracture both more proximal or distal to the same affected shoulder e.g. floating shoulder.
- The fracture is open.
- The fracture is complicated by local tumour deposits.
- The fracture is associated with a nerve palsy or vessel injury.
- Comorbidities precluding surgery or anaesthesia.
- Unable or unwilling to give consent.
- Must not be related to any member of the local study team.

4.3 Trial treatments

4.3.1 Eligible and consenting patients will be randomly allocated to either sling immobilisation or surgical fixation. Sling immobilization (comparator)

Upper limb support is provided with a sling that is applied in the emergency department to relieve pain, allow for swelling and to provide comfort. A sling is typically worn for between 2 and 4 weeks, as was the preferred length of complete immobilisation in the BESS survey (n=84, 46%)(21), and can be discarded when pain resolves or when there is evidence of fracture union. Overall, however, this can take from 6 to 8 weeks.(21) Each recruiting centre will be provided with a standardized protocol for the application and management of sling immobilization. The type of sling used will be the clinician's decision. Trial participants will also be provided with a standardised "Sling Use and Initial Self-care" leaflet and video to manage their sling care. The type of sling and duration of use will be recorded. Patients' progress and bone healing in the non-operative pathway will be assessed clinically and radiographically when they attend hospital visits as would occur during routine clinical practice. Finally, surgeons will consider the need for surgery for patients who are immobilised in a sling if there is evidence of symptomatic non-union(22) using established indicators e.g. no callus, fracture movement, patient symptoms.(23) Therefore, the need for surgery, when clinically indicated, and which will typically occur at the three month visit, is part of an already established pathway of care in the sling immobilization group as a shared decision between the patient and surgeon.

4.3.2 Surgical fixation (intervention)

Plates are inserted through an incision at the top of the shoulder and applied to the end of the clavicle with screws into the distal end of the fracture. Some surgeons prefer to put a coracoclavicular sling to the fractured bone to provide additional stability(13) or perform CC reconstruction alone when the distal fragment is very small.(24) The exact technique of surgical approach and insertion of the type of plate and coracoclavicular sling will be recorded and will be the surgeon's decision. The principles of fixation with a plate are the same for all types of plate, the choice of plate type, size and screw positions will be the surgeon's decision. The exact techniques and metalwork used will be recorded.

Post-operatively, the arm will be placed in an appropriately sized sling with guidance provided to participants on how to manage the sling and aftercare, including about axillary (armpit) hygiene and exercises. Movement of the arm will be expected to be encouraged from day one, with sling use initially for comfort, and to be discarded by the participant typically by two weeks after surgery. The type of sling used will be the health care professional's decision and recorded.

4.3.2.1 Surgeon's level of experience

To reflect the pragmatic design the level of experience of the operating surgeon will not be defined. All surgeons performing surgery on patients within the trial will be required to be familiar with the techniques and equipment that they are using. We will record the number of operations the surgeon has previously performed on this fracture population.

4.3.3 Physiotherapy

IRAS number: 321203

All participants will receive physiotherapy that may be delivered in person or remotely. Each centre will be provided with a "Physiotherapist Guidance" document about undertaking the physiotherapy. The frequency and timing of the physiotherapy will be a shared decision between the patient and physiotherapist. Participants will be provided with a standardised "Advice and early exercise" leaflet and video about undertaking home exercises. The use and acceptability of the home exercises, and frequency and setting within which the physiotherapy is performed, will be collected from participants.

4.4 COVID-19 mitigation

We have planned data collection methods to mitigate against any ongoing COVID-19 disruption. This includes hospital follow-up being aligned with routine appointments and data collection to be captured electronically. Both out-patient appointments and physiotherapy will be undertaken remotely if necessary as encouraged by our PAG and will follow government and NHS guidance. Training of hospital site staff, including ensuring sites are following relevant clinical and government guidelines, and monitoring of sites will be done remotely. Therefore, neither participants nor hospital staff will be at additional risk to COVID-19 exposure beyond that of normal clinical practice. Finally, whilst patients testing positive for coronavirus on admission are not specifically excluded from the study, it may be that these patients will not be considered suitable for surgery. The decision will be that of the treating surgeon in line with any local restrictions.

4.5 Outcomes

4.5.1 Baseline

At baseline we will record participant demographics and treatment preferences, the DASH to assess pre- and post-injury functioning, shoulder pain in the past 24 hours using a 11-point numeric rating scale (NRS) and the EQ-5D-5L. Patient satisfaction with appearance of shoulder and sensitivity/pain to touch will also be recorded. The surgeon or authorised staff will confirm the classification of the fracture, where necessary, after randomisation.(3, 15, 25)

4.5.2 Primary outcomes

The primary outcome measure will be the DASH (a 30-item self-administered outcome measure of upper extremity disability and symptoms, scored 0 (no disability) to 100) at 12 months.(26) This is when patients in both trial arms will have completed their treatment pathways. This will also be collected at 6 weeks, 3 and 6 months. All time-points are post-randomisation.

4.5.3 Secondary outcomes

IRAS number: 321203

- **Upper extremity disability and symptoms:** measured by DASH at 6 weeks, at 3, 6 and 12 months, and over 12 months.
- **Shoulder pain:** measured using an 11-item unidimensional numerical rating scale of pain intensity in adults (27) with 0 representing 'no pain' and 10 representing 'worst imaginable pain' in the past 24 hours at 6 weeks, and at 3, 6 and 12 months.(28)
- Health-related quality of life: measured at 6 weeks, and at 3, 6 and 12 months
 using the EQ-5D-5L, a validated measure of health-related quality of life in terms of 5
 dimensions (mobility, ability to self-care, ability to undertake usual activities, pain and
 discomfort, anxiety and depression) each with 5 levels of severity.(29) The EQ-5D-5L
 will be scored according to the User Guide(30) and to calculate quality-adjusted life
 years (QALYs) according to National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) best
 practice at the time of the analysis.
- Complications: This will include (but not be limited to) deep wound infection, (using Centres for Disease Control (CDC) and Prevention definition (31) superficial infection (using CDC definition), rehospitalisation (e.g. repeat surgery to remove metalwork), nerve and skin problems and collected at 6 weeks, and 3 and 12 months.
- Health care resource use and impact on return to work and activities: An
 accurate record of procedures at hospital level will be put in place in order to record
 the cost of surgery and complications via bespoke forms designed for this trial.
 Patient-reported questionnaires and hospital forms will be designed to collect
 information on hospital stay (initial and subsequent inpatient episodes, outpatient
 hospital visits and A&E admissions); primary care consultations (e.g. GP, nurse and
 physiotherapy); and return to work and to normal activities. These data will be
 collected from participants and hospital records at 6 weeks, and at 3, 6 and 12
 months.

At 12 months, data will be collected from participants on:

- Satisfaction with the appearance of their shoulder and pain/sensitivity to touch: Participants will rate their satisfaction with the appearance of their shoulder using a 5-item unidimensional Likert scale that ranges from 'Very satisfied' to 'Very dissatisfied'. A 5-item unidimensional Likert scale will also be used to record how sensitive or painful to touch is the area where the collarbone is broken.
- Shoulder range of movement (ROM): Participants will self-assess both their shoulder ROM (32, 33) using a diagram based questionnaire (34, 35) that is proven to be reliable.
- **Treatment preferences:** a single question will ask whether the participant at this time has no treatment preference, or prefers surgery or sling.

Bone healing (i.e. union, non-union and malunion): This will be assessed and recorded using routine radiographs (typically anteroposterior and axial views) by the participating surgeons in clinic at the 3 and 12 month follow-up post-randomisation. If radiographs are not routinely available at these time-points, or the participant does not attend, then the most routinely available radiographs will be used. However, if at 12 months a hospital would not routinely take radiographs, these will be requested to be done. Radiographic union will be defined as complete cortical bridging between the medial and lateral fragments on radiographs. Non-union will be defined as a lack of radiographic healing with clinical

evidence of pain and motion at the fracture site.(25) Radiographic malunion will be defined as loss of the anatomic contour of the clavicle and whether it is symptomatic or not.(36)

Imaging will be performed at participating sites and may be undertaken at a different hospital site (including non-NHS sites) to the recruiting hospital in line with any changes to the routine imaging pathway at the recruiting site. Although to review patient eligibility and bone healing there are no additional radiographs required to be taken to that as part of standard care, under Ionising Radiation (Medical Exposure) Regulations (2017), appropriate approvals will be obtained to ensure risk is minimised. For hospitals that may not take routine radiographs at 12 months to assess bone healing, which will be an additional research exposure, this has been addressed in the IRAS application and explained to patients in the information sheet.

4.6 Sample size

IRAS number: 321203

This was calculated using a standard deviation value of 20 as estimated from the Canadian trial(6) in this patient population (personal communication). Minimal clinical important differences for the DASH are around 10 points from individual studies using anchor-based methods(26, 37). A 10-point difference on the DASH at 12 months represents the threshold at which treatment differences become important to patients and clinicians, and which would represent an appropriate noninferiority margin. This is the approach that has been taken in other surgical Health Technology Assessment (HTA) funded trials: DISC HTA - 15/102/04; HAND2 NIHR127393; SOFFT NIHR127739. For 90% statistical power, 170 participants are required to establish noninferiority of sling immobilisation compared with surgical fixation within a margin of 10 points on the DASH (SD=20), based on the upper limit of a 95% two-sided confidence interval (equivalent to a one-sided 97.5% confidence interval). Assuming 20% attrition at 12 months follow-up, gives the total target sample size 214. This rate of attrition should be feasible as was found with the SWIFFT trial (HTA 13/26/01) in a similar patient population that compared similar treatment options and the completion of a patient-reported outcome measure as the primary outcome at 12 months.

An audit of 18 hospitals and a survey of surgeons identified Principal Investigators at 23 sites and allowed us to estimate that sites would see an average of 1.5 cases per centre per month; therefore, 414 cases per year from 23 sites. Patients willingness to consent is estimated to be 50% based on three UK-wide upper limb, trauma surgical trials that compared surgery with a non-operative pathway i.e. ProFHER (displaced humeral fractures; HTA 06/404/53) consent rate of 250/560, 45%; SWIFFT (scaphoid waist factures; HTA 13/26/01) consent rate of 439/875, 50%; Ahrens et al (displaced midshaft clavicle fractures) consent rate of 302/533, 57%, ProFHER reported exclusions in eligibility criteria of 687/1250, 55% and the more recently conducted SWIFFT trial excluded 272/10147, 26%. Ahrens et al did not report this.(10) We expect the exclusions will align more with the recently conducted SWIFFT trial. Therefore, we conservatively estimate a further third lost to exclusions. This will provide an estimated maximum of 138 patients per year, on average 0.5 per site per year. Set up of the 23 sites will be staggered during the first year. Using these estimates, our sample size will be achieved after a 26 month recruitment period. We will start high-volume sites early and will constantly monitor recruitment and take appropriate mitigating action involving the PAG and our independent oversight committees where appropriate.

4.7 Participant recruitment

IRAS number: 321203

4.7.1 Screening and identification of patients for the study

Participating sites will record in REDCap the number of ineligible or non-consenting patients. This will allow the trial team to identify potential areas to target to improve recruitment rates. All distal clavicle fracture cases treated during the recruitment period will be recorded. Monitoring variability between sites in the proportion of undisplaced versus displaced fractures will be done at least during the pilot phase to check whether this is affecting recruitment at sites. For those patients with displaced fractures it will be recorded as to their age (years in bands), sex, ethnicity and postcode (first part) (to monitor inclusivity of recruitment into the trial), whether eligible to take part or not (with reasons for ineligibility), whether the patient has been approached to take part and whether recruited or not into the trial (reasons for unwilling to consent will be recorded if the patient provides this when seeking consent).

The identification of potential patients will be by the direct care team and will occur in the emergency department, fracture clinics and /or the orthopaedic trauma meeting of participating NHS hospitals. Posters will also be available to display about the study for patients, generic staff and specifically for staff in the emergency department. Radiographs taken as part of routine care will be used to assess eligibility (typically anteroposterior and axial views). A surgeon delegated to perform this task, will confirm eligibility and they, or other member of the direct team will invite the patient to consider joining the study.

4.7.2 Obtaining informed consent

After the initial identification of the patient by the direct care team and invitation to take part it will be a delegated member of the study team, for example, Research Nurse who will explain the study in more detail and seek to obtain consent. To help with seeking informed consent the patient will be provided with a participant information sheet (PIS) and complementary infographic sheet in an appropriate language either in person or via post or email and have the opportunity to ask questions of the surgeon and authorised staff at the site before deciding on taking part. Potential participants may also be contacted by telephone by the direct care team to determine interest, and whether the patient would be willing to discuss the study in more detail with a delegated member of the study team either over the telephone or in clinic. The detailed PIS, will outline the study and clearly explain the risks and benefits of trial participation. Potential participants will be given contact details so they have the opportunity to ask questions of hospital staff and to discuss the trial with friends/family prior to agreement to take part. The patient will be asked when approached whether they have had sufficient time to consider participation and whether they agree to consent at that time; if required, they will be given further time to decide on whether to take part. Specific consent will be sought to enable the sharing of identifiable data with YTU in order to facilitate data collection. All members of staff involved in the informed consent process must have training in Good Clinical Practice (GCP).

Patients who are consented on-site will have the option to provide consent electronically using the REDCap study database or as an alternative a paper consent form will be provided. Consent obtained electronically will be held on a General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) compliant secure software platform which will be password protected with access limited to named members of the study team. Copies of consent forms will be automatically generated following online completion and submission by patients. A copy will be provided to participants and available to the recruiting site in REDCap.

Patients may attend virtual fracture clinics, or staff may not be available to consent a patient in clinic at hospital. Therefore, in addition to on-site consent, this can be done remotely with

the patient via telephone or videoconference. The same methods will be used to obtain consent and baseline data electronically using the REDCap study database or via post to the patient as a paper consent form along with a paper copy of the baseline CRF that will be returned back to the hospital. The patient should where possible sign the paper consent form, which on receipt will be uploaded by site staff to REDCap, or complete electronically, in the presence of the authorised person taking consent who are GCP trained. The authorised staff should also record in the patient's case notes and in the "Comments" eCRF in REDCap to explain any discrepancies in dates between when the patient and the staff member signed for consent. As above, a copy of consent will be provided to participants and be available to the recruiting site in REDCap which will also record whether it was on-site or remote consent that was obtained.

4.7.3 Associate Principal Investigators

IRAS number: 321203

An Associate Principal Investigator (API) scheme will be utilised at participating sites to involve aspiring researchers to coordinate study recruitment. The APIs will be trained in study processes and will be supervised by the PI at the site. Participating centres will be encouraged to involve local Trauma Co-ordinators and Specialty Trainees in Trauma and Orthopaedic Surgery, particularly "out of hours" (evenings and weekends) when Research Nurses or APIs may not be available. APIs will be acknowledged on the main publications.

4.7.4 Equality, diversity and inclusion of study participants

We have designed our eligibility criteria to be as inclusive as possible to reflect our target population of people experiencing a distal clavicle fracture. From the limited epidemiological data available on clavicle fractures we expect the injury to be substantially more common in men than women under 50 years old but similar incidence by sex in the over 50s. Clinical experience is that this is a fracture that can be experienced by anyone but is a more common injury amongst younger physically active people, particularly men of working age.(38) A key barrier to participation of this group can be data collection burden and hospital visits. We have timed the majority of our data collection around standard hospital visits and with all other data collected electronically. We appreciate that not all participants will be comfortable with electronic data collection and can offer alternatives such as collecting data by telephone or postally and then entered into the electronic system. This will ensure that participants are not at a digital disadvantage. The proposed financial incentives to participants at each time-point should ensure they are not out-of-pocket for taking part and are ethically acceptable incentives.

We will aim to ensure every person eligible has the same opportunity to take part and not to exclude underserved or vulnerable groups whether by demographic factors (e.g. age, sex, ethnicity, education) or social, economic and health factors.(38) Both the trial team and our independent oversight committees will monitor screening data to ensure patients are not being excluded for these reasons. We will also investigate whether deprived areas are adequately represented using the participant's postcode and also collect age (years), sex and ethnicity data at screening to monitor recruitment into the trial. We will also ensure awareness on all aspects of equality, diversity and inclusivity by embedding advice in our site training visits and provide site staff with resources about this with input from our PAG. We will have ongoing discussions about this with sites throughout the trial.

We anticipate that geography will be addressed by having a minimum of 23 sites distributed across the UK. We have collated the most up to date regional level data from multiple national sources to identify areas with high proportions of young males (39), alongside the index of multiple deprivation (40), index of health deprivation (40) and ethnicity (41). These data have been linked and combined to ensure we recruit from geographic populations with high disease burden which have been historically underserved by research activity in this

field. Examining this data shows that the 23 sites already identified to recruit to the DIDACT trial includes one in three of the top 5% of regions with the most vulnerable and underserved populations, and just under half of the top 10% of regions at the highest risk from a clavicle fracture. In addition, we will use this data to target recruitment at additional sites should those be needed during the trial.

We will consult throughout the study with our PAG to ensure inclusivity which will have a broad representation of people of different ages, ethnic and socioeconomic backgrounds and gender who have experienced collarbone injuries; and people with experience of supporting vulnerable patients with a shoulder problem. Our PAG will help us to prepare patient facing material using plain, simple language and to advise the trial team of any unforeseen barriers to recruitment or retention by particular sections of populations served that can feasibly be overcome. Capturing, evaluating and reporting this activity will be supported by our patient representative lead who will attend TMG meetings. We will also provide translations of the PIS to facilitate potential participants' understanding of the study; translate our newsletters to participants; and have budgeted for a translator to assist with data collection where necessary. Our primary outcome, DASH, is now available in 54 languages and dialects. We will also produce a recruitment video and infographic along with the sling care leaflet/video, the home exercise leaflets/video for participants with input from our PAG. These materials will also be translated and there will be translator support for the treatment guidance materials.

4.8 Randomisation

IRAS number: 321203

Allocation will be on a 1:1 ratio, using random permuted blocks of random block size, and stratified by age (<65 or ≥65 years) as a surrogate for the fragility of the fracture.(18) The allocation schedule will be generated by a trial statistician, otherwise not involved in the recruitment or randomisation of participants. It will be implemented using a secure webbased randomisation service managed by YTU, ensuring allocation concealment. The hospital staff at the site will confirm patient eligibility and consent and access the online service to perform the randomisation within 21 days of the index injury. As with many surgical trials, it will not be feasible to blind patients, surgeons, or outcome assessors to the treatment allocation.

5 Data management

5.1 Data collection methods

Trial participants will complete electronic Case Record Forms (eCRFs) at baseline and the follow-up time-points (6 weeks, 3, 6 and 12 months post-randomisation) with supplemental telephone/video follow-up for non-responders that will be entered directly into the study database. Postal completion of paper follow-up CRFs will also be permissible by participants who do not have ready access to devices to provide data electronically or when the questionnaires are provided in languages other than English. Paper completed CRFs by participants will be entered directly into the study database. Contact details will be provided to participants for if they need support with completing questionnaires. Delegated staff at participating sites will also complete eCRFs as shown in the study assessment schedule and will be offered a tablet to do this.

The trial database to manage this data is REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture) and is hosted on a secure cloud-server in Amazon Web Services, in the UK region. A CRF specification plan will be completed for all the instruments to be included in the database with the respective questions, responses and validation rules. A project specification form

will also be completed that details the requirements of the project such as what events are due and who has access to the system and their role. The randomisation system will be hosted outside of REDCap, it will take data from and feed back into REDCap.

As a duty of care, participant data will be reviewed to check for anything that indicates that the participant could be at risk of harm. Where this occurs, the hospital team will be notified of this and their General Practitioner as necessary.

YTU will develop the study database in REDCap and manage the data collection. All reporting of data collection will be undertaken in line with the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT).(42)

5.1.1 Access to data

IRAS number: 321203

Data will be held securely on the cloud-hosted REDCap server. Access to the study interface will be restricted to named authorised individuals granted user rights by a REDCap administrator at YTU. Authorised users will be required to set passwords in line with University of York's policy and enable 2 factor authentication. Study documents (paper and electronic) held at the University of York will be retained in a secure (kept locked when not in use) location for the duration of the trial. All work will be conducted following University of York's data protection policy which is publicly available.

The sponsor, University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, are data controller for this study which will be detailed in a collaboration agreement between the sponsor and the University of York. There will also be an agreement between the sponsor and each of the participating sites (within the model Non-Commercial Agreement (mNCA)) that will include data sharing responsibilities with YTU.

The Investigator(s)/institution(s) will permit authorised representatives of the sponsor and applicable regulatory agencies direct access to source data/documents to conduct trial related monitoring, audits and regulatory inspection. Trial participants are informed of this during the informed consent discussion. Participants will consent to provide access to their medical notes.

5.1.2 Plans to promote retention

To minimise attrition, we will use multiple methods to keep in contact with patients. We will ask patients for full contact details (including mobile phone number and email address). Patients will also be asked to consent to agree to their General Practitioner being contacted for their address and using NHS Digital (the Spine portal) to help stay in contact in England and Wales or the Community Health Index in Scotland. For all follow-up data collections, two reminders (at 2 weeks and 4 weeks) will be sent to non-responding participants, with a final attempt to obtain data by a telephone/video call at 6 weeks. Participants will receive a gift voucher for completing questionnaires at 6 weeks (£5), 3 months (£5), 6 months (£20) and 12 months (£20).(43) The increase at 6 months is because the data collection is not aligned to a clinic and at 12 months as this is the primary end-point. We will text participants to prompt completion as part of the embedded SWAT and non-responders will be contacted via text, email or mobile when necessary about being available to complete the questionnaire over the telephone or video.(43) Regular newsletters will be sent to participants during the trial to keep them informed and engaged with the trial.(44) In addition, we will underpin data collection based on our experience and stakeholder engagement when completing another orthopaedic surgical RCT in a primarily young, male population (SWIFFT HTA -11/36/37).(45, 46)

Imaging and reports from peripheral sites can be directly accessed by the participating site to help with assessment of bone union, imaging can also be retrieved by the participating

hospital for local area/regional hospitals using Picture Archiving Communication Systems (PACS). Furthermore, if a participant moves away from the participating site and is followed-up at a hospital not taking part in the trial, follow-up data (e.g. re-operations, complications, infections) can be requested securely through NHSmail. Both these mechanisms for capturing data are available as would occur in routine clinical practice. A bespoke letter and flyer is also available to hospital staff to encourage participant attendance at the 12 month clinic which is the primary end-point for the study.

5.2 Proposed time period for retention of relevant trial documentation

Essential Trial documentation (i.e. the documents which individually and collectively permit evaluation of the conduct of a clinical trial) will be kept with the Trial Master File and Investigator Site Files. The sponsor will ensure that this documentation will be retained for a minimum of five years after the conclusion of the trial to comply with standards of GCP. They will then be securely destroyed as per York Trial Unit Standard Operating Procedures and/or that of the Sponsor.

Data that is collected on paper will be stored for a minimum of 10 years after the conclusion of the trial in a secure University managed storage facility or off-site and similarly then destroyed securely. Data that is stored electronically will also be stored for a minimum of 10 years on secure, password-protected University computers. We plan to indefinitely store deidentified data, with the unique study ID removed, that is truly anonymous.

5.3 Embedded Study Within A Trial (SWAT)

IRAS number: 321203

An electronic prompt compared with no prompts may improve patient follow-up (RR 1.03 (0.98 to 1.08)).(43)

An embedded SWAT, not yet being undertaken from a search of the Northern Ireland SWAT repository, will be conducted to evaluate whether including a timeframe to complete the questionnaire has an effect on questionnaire return. Participants will be randomly allocated on a 1:1 ratio to get a prompt at each follow-up that either will or will not ask for the questionnaire to be completed within the next 7 days. Our PAG has informed the wording of the text message.

Generation of the SWAT allocation will be undertaken independently by a statistician at York Trials Unit not involved with the DIDACT follow-up process. Block randomisation stratified by the main trial treatment allocation using randomly permuted block sizes will be used. Allocation will take place at the time of allocation to the main trial. The sending of text messages will be hosted outside of REDCap and will be sent using a secure UK-based text message gateway software, for example, Intelli Software.

The primary outcome of this embedded SWAT is the response rate to the participant follow-up questionnaire at 12 months. Secondary outcomes include: response rates to the participant follow-up questionnaire at 6 weeks, 3 months and 6 months; whether the participant required a reminder; completeness of the primary outcome for the main trial (defined as providing sufficient data to produce a valid summary score); and time to response.

Analysis of dichotomous outcomes will be via a mixed-effect logistic regression model adjusting for main trial allocation, and site as a random effect. Time to response will be analysed using a Cox proportional hazard model with shared centre frailty and adjusting for main trial allocation.

6 Statistical methods

6.1 Internal pilot

IRAS number: 321203

The recruitment rate and 95% confidence interval (CI) will be estimated from the data collected. A CONSORT diagram will be constructed to show the flow of participants through the study and the following outcomes calculated: number of eligible patients; proportion of eligible patients approached for consent; proportion of eligible patients not approached and reasons why; proportion of patients approached who provide consent; proportion of patients approached who do not provide consent; proportion of patients providing consent who are randomised; proportion of patients randomised who do not receive the randomly allocated treatment; proportion of patients dropping out between randomisation and follow-up; proportion of patients for whom a primary outcome is recorded. Data will be summarised on the reasons why eligible patients were not approached, reasons for patients declining to participate in the study; reasons why randomised patients did not receive their allocated treatment and reasons for drop-out, if available. Results will be compared against the study's recruitment assumptions and progression targets.

6.2 Statistical analysis full trial

For the analysis of the full trial (assuming continuation) a CONSORT flow diagram will be provided to display the flow of participants through the study. Baseline characteristics will be presented descriptively by group. All outcomes will be reported descriptively at all collected time points. Continuous data will be presented using means and standard deviations or medians and ranges as appropriate, and categorical data will be presented using frequencies and percentages. The primary analysis will be on an intention-to-treat (ITT) basis, analysing patients in the groups to which they were randomised. A mixed-effects linear regression model will be used to compare groups, adjusting for stratification factors and relevant baseline covariates as fixed effects and centre as a random effect. Non-inferiority will be accepted if the upper bound of the two-sided 95% confidence interval (equivalent to a one-sided 97.5% CI) lies within the non-inferiority margin of 10 at the 12 month time point.

Completeness of data at follow-up will be reported by group. In non-inferiority comparisons in the presence of treatment switching the ITT analysis could bias towards the null, which may lead to false claims of non-inferiority, hence we will undertake both ITT and CACE (complier average causal effect) analyses. Full analyses will be detailed in the trial's statistical analysis plan (SAP), which will be reviewed and approved by the trial steering and data monitoring committees and finalised before the end of patient follow-up. All analyses will be conducted in STATA v17 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA), or later (to be confirmed in the final report).(47)

7 Economic analysis

The embedded health economic evaluation assesses the relative cost-effectiveness of surgery compared with sling immobilisation in the management of adults with a displaced fracture of the distal clavicle in order to determine which treatment offers the best value for money for the NHS. The methods will be consistent with the NICE Guide to the Methods of Technology Appraisal.(48)

An NHS and personal social services (PSS) costing perspective will be taken in the base case analysis; relevant costs will include participant level NHS resource use, medication use and related social services. The time horizon of the analysis will be 12 months. A secondary analysis will explore the wider societal perspective.

The costs of providing the treatments will be based on national tariff data. Applying national average costs makes the results more generalisable when cost-effectiveness results are considered for wider adoption by policy-makers. We will also include the cost of the operation to remove metalwork implanted in the surgery arm and the necessary surgery following non-union in the sling immobilisation arm. These costs represent key extra costs of the respective treatment arm and are an important resource implication which is factored into the economic evaluation.

IRAS number: 321203

Health care utilisation data for contacts with the NHS and PSS are recorded using a bespoke service use questionnaire. The healthcare resource data will be collected using patient self-administered questionnaires and hospital forms. Quantities recorded are multiplied by national average unit costs in the appropriate year at the time of analysis (49, 50) to derive a cost profile for each participant in each arm of the trial.

We will also collect costing data to inform a cost-utility analyses from a societal perspective. The trial will assess the impact of both treatments on days of lost employment by participants and their unpaid carers, and any paid additional care required. In addition to the base-case analysis conducted from the perspective of the NHS and PSS, we will conduct a secondary analysis to explore the impact of productivity costs and extra personal spending on cost effectiveness results. The wider cost data does not form part of the base case but can be submitted as supplementary evidence.

Health related quality of life (HRQoL) will be quantified using EQ-5D-5L(51) administered at baseline, six weeks, 3, 6 and 12 months. The UK social tariff is applied to EQ-5D-5L responses to derive utility values from patient responses at each data point. We will use the valuation method as recommended by NICE at the time of analysis to calculate Quality Adjusted Life Years (QALYs)(52) using the area under the curve approach.(53) QALYs will be the primary outcome for the economic evaluation.

Regression methods, adjusted for key covariates, will be used to estimate incremental costs and QALYs (on an ITT basis) by treatment allocation. Patient costs are combined with QALYs to estimate the incremental cost per QALY of the surgery comparing to the sling immobilisation over the follow-up.

If deemed appropriate the short-term cost-effectiveness will be extrapolated beyond the trial follow-up.

Underlying uncertainty around the decision to adopt the intervention is assessed using non-parametric bootstrap re-sampling. Bootstrapping is an efficient method for calculating the confidence limits for the ICER as its validity does not depend on any specific form of underlying distribution. We perform the bootstrap to produce 5,000 replications and construct the cost-effectiveness plane based on the bootstrapping results. Cost-effectiveness acceptability curves (CEAC) will be constructed based on the bootstrap iterations(54) to illustrate the probability that the surgery is more cost-effective than sling immobilisation at different acceptable ICER threshold values. The probability that surgery is more cost-effective than sling immobilisation will be marked specifically at the NICE maximum acceptable ICER threshold range of £20,000 to £30,000/QALY and also £13,000/QALY by empirical studies.(48, 55)

A range of sensitivity analyses is undertaken to assess the impact of missing data. In the main analysis, missing data will be imputed using multiple imputation method and analysed following Rubin's rule.(56) As part of the sensitivity analysis, we will conduct an additional set of analyses using the complete case analysis (CCA), whereby results are analysed only for those participants who had both the completed cost and outcome data at the same time.

We will also examine the assumption of missing data pattern using pattern mixture modelling.(57) Given the implication of the painful shoulder for the patient in terms of loss of earnings, as well as private care costs, a sensitivity analysis from a broader perspective will also be conducted.

We will maintain the integrity and neutrality of the heath economic analysis by presenting a detailed *a priori* health economics analysis plan. The plan will pre-specify the methods used for the health economic analysis, the data-sources and the outcomes for analysis.

8 Project management

IRAS number: 321203

DIDACT will be sponsored by University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust. Each site will have a site PI who will be responsible locally for the study and an API who will be a trainee surgeon. The day-to-day running of the project will be undertaken by the Trial Manager based at YTU, supported by YTU senior staff. The Trial Manager at YTU will be responsible for all aspects of trial management. They will be supported by a Trial Co-ordinator, who will be responsible for the day-to-day support to trial sites, data handling, and the management of the administrative trial team. The team at YTU will meet on a weekly basis during the study and will work closely with the Chief Investigator throughout, including regular meetings to ensure that all aspects of preparation of study material, study site setup and the start of recruitment progress smoothly and throughout the trial. YTU staff will keep in close contact via email, telephone or videoconferencing throughout.

The trial team is experienced in working with local investigators at recruitment sites to ensure ethical and efficient delivery of trials in compliance with the trial protocol. In addition to regular TMGs, the trial team will keep in regular contact with sites and use joint local investigator meetings, newsletters and other forms of communication to monitor progress, support any struggling sites, and to share good practice across sites.

8.1 Trial Management Group

A Trial Management Group (TMG) will monitor the day-to-day management (e.g. protocol and ethics approvals, set-up, recruitment, data collection, data management) of the study chaired by the Chief Investigator. Membership will include the Chief Investigator, co-investigators and research staff on the project. Throughout the project there will be regular video/teleconference contact supplemented by face-to-face meetings where required. Frequency of meetings will vary depending on the stage of the trial but at least monthly during the early stages and pilot.

8.2 Trial Steering and Independent Data Monitoring Committee

A Trial Steering Committee (TSC) will monitor progress of the study, provide independent advice and the independent chair will make recommendations to the funder. An Independent Data Monitoring Committee (IDMC) will monitor the data arising from the trial and recommend to the TSC on whether there are any ethical or safety reasons why the trial should not continue. The TSC and IDMC will meet regularly to provide oversight to the study. The project will also be monitored by the sponsor and a representative will be invited to attend the TSC meetings.

9 Safety monitoring

IRAS number: 321203

Participants will be allocated to routinely delivered treatments in the NHS and therefore the risks are not increased through trial participation.

9.1 Definitions

Adverse events (AE) are defined as any untoward medical occurrence in a trial participant and which do not necessarily have a causal relationship with the treatment. Only medical occurrences specific to the participants' clavicle fracture that are 'unexpected' and up until the 12-month follow-up will be classified as events. This is because 'expected' events are well known complications for the two routine treatment options that will be recorded on CRFs and which the specialist clinical care teams will be experienced in managing.

Serious adverse events (SAEs) will be defined as any untoward medical occurrence that:

- Results in death.
- Is life threatening (that is it places the participant, in the view of the Investigator, at immediate risk of death).
- Requires hospitalisation or prolongation of existing inpatients' hospitalisation (unplanned refers to emergency hospitalisations resulting in an inpatient stay; prolonged hospitalisation is deemed to be where a patient's stay is longer than expected).
- Results in persistent or significant disability or incapacity.
- Any other important medical condition which, although not included in the above, may require medical or surgical intervention to prevent one of the outcomes listed.

9.2 Collection, recording and reporting of adverse events

A delegated member of staff at the hospital will record all AEs or SAEs on the appropriate eCRF in REDCap. In addition, sites should follow their own local procedures for the reporting of any adverse events.

AEs and SAEs will be reported to YTU within five days or 24 hours respectively of the site investigator becoming aware of them. Once received, causality (or 'relatedness') and expectedness will be confirmed by the Chief Investigator. SAEs that are deemed to be unexpected and related to the trial treatment will be notified to the Research Ethics Committee (REC) and sponsor within 15 days.

Expected events that do not need reporting are: complications of anaesthesia or surgery (58) (e.g. wound complications, infection, damage to a nerve or blood vessel, frozen shoulder, coracoid fracture, metalwork failure and thromboembolic events) and secondary operations for or to prevent infection, malunion, non-union or for symptoms related to the metalwork.(58, 59) Nor does any of the above that may arise from sling immobilisation pathway need reporting, including swelling, bruising, discomfort or stiffness from sling use.(6, 8)

Follow-up reports a month later of all AEs and SAEs will be reviewed by the Chief Investigator to ensure that adequate action has been taken and progress made.

AEs and SAEs will be monitored regularly at TMG meetings and reported to the TSC and IDMC when they meet.

10 Research governance

IRAS number: 321203

10.1 Ethical considerations and approval

The trial will be conducted to protect the human rights and dignity of the patients as reflected in the Declaration of Helsinki.(60)

Formal NHS REC approval and that of the Health Research Authority (HRA) will be sought and will include all the documentation to be given to patients. Local R&D approvals (confirmation of capacity and capability) and the Sponsor green light will be obtained for participating sites prior to recruitment starting. Any further amendments to the trial protocol will be submitted and approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities where required.

The PIS will be developed with the involvement of our PAG and will give a balanced account of the possible benefits and known risks of the interventions. It will state explicitly that quality of care will not be compromised if the participant decides to a) not enter the trial or b) withdraw their consent. Informed consent will be obtained from all trial participants after they have had sufficient time to read the study materials and ask any questions.

In the context of the lack of robust evidence to determine the best treatment for displaced clavicle fractures and comparing routine treatment pathways the risks to patients are not increased through trial participation. Therefore, we do not anticipate major ethical concerns with this study.

10.2 Proposed action to comply with the medicines for human use (clinical trials) regulations 2004

The techniques under investigation are well-recognized and international accepted surgical procedures using CE-marked implants and medical devices. We do not therefore require prior authorisation by the UK Competent Authority, the MHRA, under the Medical Devices Regulations (2002).(61)

10.3 Regulatory compliance

The trial will comply with the approved protocol and adhere to the HRA and the UK Health Department policy framework (62) and MRC Good Clinical Practice Guidance.(63) An agreement will be in place between the site PI and the sponsor, setting out respective roles and responsibilities.

All deviations from the protocol or GCP will be reported by PIs or designated site staff to YTU. The site must inform the PI as soon as they are aware of a possible serious breach of compliance, so that the sites can report this breach to the trial sponsor (via YTU) with onward reporting to ethics and regulatory bodies as necessary. For the purposes of this regulation, a 'serious breach' is one that is likely to affect to a significant degree:

- The safety, physical or mental integrity of the participants in the trial, or
- The scientific value of the trial.

Processing of all trial data will comply with GDPR as implemented in the Data Protection Act 2018.(64)

Monitoring of sites to ensure that the trial is complying with the approved protocol and regulatory requirements will also be undertaken by YTU. The monitoring plan will be kept in the Trial Master File.

10.4 Patient confidentiality

IRAS number: 321203

The researchers and clinical care teams must ensure that patient confidentiality will be maintained and that their identities are protected from unauthorised parties. Patients will be assigned a unique participant identification number which will be used on eCRFs. Sites will securely keep and maintain the patient Enrolment Log showing participant identification numbers and names of the patients. This unique participant number will identify all eCRFs and other records.

All records will be kept in locked locations. All paper copies of consent forms will be secured safely in a separate compartment of a locked cabinet. Electronic copies will be stored separately to clinical information and access restricted to study personnel. Clinical information will not be released without written permission, except as necessary for monitoring purposes.

10.5 Trial Closure

The end of the trial will be defined as the last patient's last contact at 12 month follow-up and all their data are entered, checked and gueries resolved.

An end of study declaration form will be submitted to the REC and sponsor within 90 days of trial completion and within 15 days if the trial is discontinued prematurely. A summary of the trial report and/or publication will be submitted to the REC, sponsor and Funders within 12 months of the end of the trial.

10.6 Annual progress reports

An Annual Progress Report will be submitted to the REC that gave the favourable ethics opinion 12 months after the date on which the favourable opinion was given and thereafter until the end of the trial (if applicable). The Sponsor will also be provided with a copy of these reports.

10.7 Urgent safety measures

The site PI may take appropriate urgent safety measures in order to protect research participants against any immediate hazard to their health or safety. These safety measures should be taken immediately and may be taken without prior authorisation from the REC.

10.8 Indemnity

This trial will be sponsored by University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust. If there is negligent harm during the trial, when the NHS Trust owes a duty of care to the person harmed, NHS Indemnity covers NHS staff and medical academic staff with honorary contracts only when the feasibility of the trial has been approved by the R&D department. NHS indemnity does not offer no-fault compensation and is unable to agree in advance to pay compensation for non-negligent harm.

11 Patient and public involvement

IRAS number: 321203

Our research is addressing a James Lind Alliance Priority Setting Partnership priority topic of whether clavicle fractures should be managed with or without surgery.(16) We have undertaken a consultation with our PAG to inform the design and delivery of the study. This included the PAG recommendation that they would agree to be randomised between sling versus surgery on the understanding that surgery would be possible if indicated at a later date. Therefore, we will explain to patients that their progress and bone healing will be assessed clinically and radiographically when they attend hospital visits as would occur during routine clinical practice. Any decision to operate will be a structured and shared decision between the surgeon and patient. Our PAG also discouraged including hook plates as these need a further operation to be removed due to the risk of damage to the rotator cuff muscles which in the long term could slow the speed of recovery and be of more pain and burden to patients. The proposed trial design should be more acceptable to patients and is centred around what is important to them. Our PAG also recommended the use of electronic data collection where possible and the need for and amount of financial incentives for patients.

During the trial, our PAG will contribute to the development of study materials, advise on optimising the inclusion of patients with respect to our aims for EDI and we will discuss with them any challenges that arise in the delivery of the study. We will engage with trial participants through regular newsletters and Twitter and the wider population by updating the Wikipedia page about clavicle fractures and informing the Royal Society of Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) about our research. We will work closely with our PAG to develop various outputs: a leaflet that summarises the findings in plain, simple English; an infographic and animation; and a booklet about the condition. We will use press releases and social media to publicise these outputs (e.g. Twitter, LinkedIn, YouTube) and will seek to upload these on various websites (e.g. sponsor and YTU, BESS, Wikipaedia, RoSPA, Cycling UK) with input from our PAG about the most appropriate channels of communication. Research comms support and advice will be available from the Sponsor on keeping in contact with participants during the trial through appropriate channels. All participants will be offered to complete the NIHR Participant in Research Experience Survey.

12 Plan of investigation and timetable

The project duration is 50 months with a proposed contractual start date of 1 November 2022. The timetable is summarised below.

Activity	Duration	Time period
Preparing study set up including relevant	1-6 months	1 Nov 2022 to 30 Apr 2023
approvals		
Recruitment for internal pilot phase	7-18 months	1 May 2023 to 30 Apr 2024
Recruitment for main trial phase	19-32 months	1 May 2024 to 30 Jun 2025
Final follow-up	33-44 months	1 Jul 2025 to 30 Jun 2026
Statistical/health economic analyses and	45-50 months	1 Jul 2026 to 31 December
write up of HTA report		2026

13 Finance

The financial arrangements for the trial will be as contractually agreed between the funder (HTA), and the Sponsor (University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust). There will be a separate collaboration agreement between the Sponsor and the collaborating organisations.

14 Dissemination policy

IRAS number: 321203

This trial has the potential to improve joint decision making about the management of a displaced, distal clavicle fracture. DASH as the primary outcome, will allow a clear discussion between surgeons and patients regarding the benefits of one approach over the other. We will develop a dissemination strategy at the outset of the project which will be reviewed and adjusted by the TMG as required during the study. This will provide established pathways for the dissemination of the results when they are available. BESS has adopted the trial for inclusion in their research portfolio which will facilitate dissemination of findings to relevant stakeholders. A number of dissemination channels will be used to inform clinicians, patients and the public about the project and the results of the study. The projected outputs are listed below:

- The study protocol will be published in a peer-reviewed, open access journal, before the end of recruitment.
- A HTA monograph will be produced.
- On completion of the study, the findings of the trial will be presented at national and international meetings of organisations that will target orthopaedic surgeons such as the British Orthopaedic Association (BOA) Annual Congress, the British Shoulder and Elbow Society (BESS), European Federation of National Associations of Orthopaedics and Traumatology (EFORT), European Society for Surgery of the Shoulder and the Elbow (SECEC) and American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. We will also target physiotherapists at BESS, The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy: Physiotherapy UK Conference, Allied Health Professional roadshows, BOA Annual Congress, and European Society for Shoulder and Elbow Rehabilitation (EUSSER).
- The study findings and patient-focused outputs will be cascaded to trainee surgeon networks (e.g. BOTA, CORNET) and we will seek to upload these outputs on their websites. The study findings will also be cascaded to Industry who produce the implants and also to Getting It Right First Time (GIRFT) which is a national programme designed to improve medical care within NHS by reducing unwarranted variations.
- The executive summary and copy of the trial report will be sent to NICE and other relevant bodies, including Integrated Care Systems, so that the study findings can inform their deliberations and be translated into clinical practice nationally. We will also work with the relevant National Clinical Director in the Department of Health to help ensure the findings of the trial are considered when implementing policy and will work with the Speciality Advisory Committees (SAC) to incorporate the findings into the training curriculum for clinicians who undertake surgical fixation of these fractures.
- The study report will be published in peer reviewed high impact general medical and orthopaedic journals, such as Lancet, the BMJ, the Bone and Joint Journal or similar.
- The study results will be shared with relevant evidence synthesis teams (including within the Cochrane Collaboration) in order to ensure that results are incorporated in future systematic reviews.
- A plain English summary leaflet of the study findings, will be produced and made available to participants, members of our user group and relevant patient-focused websites. In conjunction with the PAG we will develop an infographic and an animation to disseminate the findings.
- During the study webpages will be hosted on the Be Part of Research/YTU websites
 as an information resource for participants and we will work with the PAG to map the
 relevant websites who may be willing to make the information available. For
 example, distal clavicle fractures are common amongst cyclists and Cycling UK
 currently has an information page on clavicle fractures so are likely to be interested
 in the results of our trial.

- As part of the trial an information booklet on the condition, treatment options, the
 likely recovery process and physiotherapy exercises will be produced. We will
 explore making this more widely available to patients following the trial, with the
 inclusion of the study findings. This could be through hospitals as well as websites
 identified for the infographic and animation.
- The findings of the SWAT will be disseminated in a relevant journal read by trialists such as BMC Trials or BMJ Open and disseminated at relevant conferences such as the International Clinical Trials Methodology Conference.
- The study will be publicised at the start of the study, to help engage with different audiences and promote the study, and also to disseminate findings using press releases at the collaborating institutions and social media e.g. Twitter, LinkedIn, YouTube.
- These outputs will also be uploaded to various webpages (e.g. Sponsor, YTU, BESS, Wikipedia, ISRCTN registry).

The various outputs that we produce will be freely available to the NHS and public and is likely to only require IP protection with the use of a copyright statement from the Sponsor.

Access to fully anonymised trial dataset to a third party may be granted following review with the TMG. Participants will be informed that information collected about them may be shared anonymously with other researchers and will be asked to consent to this.

14.1 Anticipated impact of the research

IRAS number: 321203

The impact of our research is to benefit patients, surgeons and healthcare professionals by establishing an evidence-based treatment pathway for the management of this fracture that will facilitate shared decision-making. This should improve patients' wellbeing and ensure the efficient delivery of NHS services. There is growing evidence that orthopaedic surgical trials conducted in the UK can have a significant impact on clinical practice.(65, 66) We can achieve this too with our proposed plans.

In order to analyse the reach of our dissemination the journals that we will publish in are likely to provide an Altmetric score which includes citations in other journals and Twitter demographics. Similarly sharing the infographic and animation using social media such as Twitter and YouTube will allow us to record activity about its use. When we upload the infographic, animation and information booklet on various websites we will seek to allow the number of downloads to be recorded.

The trial team will engage with our PAG and the IP/Contracts Manager at the Sponsor to develop and implement an impact realisation plan. The aim of our impact is as follows.

(a) Short term:

- for the dissemination of the study findings to have real influence in informing treatment pathways and shared decision-making about the management of adult patients in our target population as illustrated using an infographic and animation;
- to provide a resource for our target population with an information booklet on the condition, the treatment options, the likely recovery process, physiotherapy exercises and study findings.

(b) in the short to medium term:

- to monitor access to the above outputs on appropriate websites.
- (c) in the medium to long term:

- to use a dataset such as HES, potentially involving another NIHR workstream (e.g. CLAHRC), as has been done for other orthopaedic surgical trials(65) to assess whether there has been a change in the management of patients in our target population in terms of the number of operations being performed and explore the cost consequences of this.
- to follow-up with users of the infographic, animation and information booklet on the various websites as to how useful they have found this with input from our PAG about how to most effectively achieve this.

15 Funding acknowledgement and disclaimer

DIDACT is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health Technology Assessment programme (NIHR150159). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

16 References

- 1. Robinson CM. Fractures of the clavicle in the adult. Epidemiology and classification. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1998;80(3):476-84.
- 2. Nordqvist A, Petersson C. The incidence of fractures of the clavicle. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1994(300):127-32.
- 3. Neer CS. Fractures of the distal third of the clavicle. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1968;58:43-50.
- 4. Postacchini F, Gumina S, De Santis P, Albo F. Epidemiology of clavicle fractures. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2002;11(5):452-6.
- 5. Kihlström C, Möller M, Lönn K, Wolf O. Clavicle fractures: epidemiology, classification and treatment of 2 422 fractures in the Swedish Fracture Register; an observational study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18(1):82.
- 6. Hall JA, Schemitsch CE, Vicente MR, Dehghan N, Nauth A, Nowak LL, et al. Operative vs. Non-operative Treatment of Acute Displaced Distal Clavicle Fractures: A Multicentre Randomized Controlled Trial. J Orthop Trauma. 2021;35(12):660-6.
- 7. Oh JH, Kim SH, Lee JH, Shin SH, Gong HS. Treatment of distal clavicle fracture: a systematic review of treatment modalities in 425 fractures. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2011;131(4):525-33.
- 8. Robinson CM, Cairns DA. Primary nonoperative treatment of displaced lateral fractures of the clavicle. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2004;86(4):778-82.
- 9. Skou ST, Juhl CB, Hare KB, Lohmander LS, Roos EM. Surgical or non-surgical treatment of traumatic skeletal fractures in adults: systematic review and meta-analysis of benefits and harms. Syst Rev. 2020;9(1):179.
- 10. Ahrens PM, Garlick NI, Barber J, Tims EM, Clavicle Trial Collaborative Group. The Clavicle Trial: A Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial Comparing Operative with Nonoperative Treatment of Displaced Midshaft Clavicle Fractures. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2017;99(16):1345-54.
- 11. Nicholson JA, Clement N, Goudie EB, Robinson CM. Routine fixation of displaced midshaft clavicle fractures is not cost-effective: a cost analysis from a randomized controlled trial. Bone Joint J. 2019;101-B(8):995-1001.
- 12. Uittenbogaard SJ, van Es LJM, den Haan C, van Deurzen DFP, van den Bekerom MPJ. Outcomes, Union Rate, and Complications After Operative and Nonoperative Treatments of

Neer Type II Distal Clavicle Fractures: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of 2284 Patients. Am J Sports Med. 2021:3635465211053336.

IRAS number: 321203

- 13. Boonard M, Sumanont S, Arirachakaran A, Sikarinkul E, Ratanapongpean P, Kanchanatawan W, et al. Fixation method for treatment of unstable distal clavicle fracture: systematic review and network meta-analysis. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 2018;28(6):1065-78.
- 14. Vannabouathong C, Chiu J, Patel R, Sreeraman S, Mohamed E, Bhandari M, et al. An evaluation of treatment options for medial, midshaft, and distal clavicle fractures: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JSES Int. 2020;4(2):256-71.
- 15. Kihlström C, Hailer NP, Wolf O. Surgical Versus Nonsurgical Treatment of Lateral Clavicle Fractures: A Short-Term Follow-Up of Treatment and Complications in 122 Patients. J Orthop Trauma. 2021;35(12):667-72.
- 16. James Lind Alliance. [Available from: https://www.jla.nihr.ac.uk/priority-setting-partnerships/broken-bones-of-the-upper-limb/priority-8-from-the-broken-bones-of-the-upper-limb-in-people-over-50-7.htm.
- 17. Willett KM, Gray B, Moran CG, Giannoudis PV, Pallister I. Orthopaedic trauma research priority-setting exercise and development of a research network. Injury. 2010;41(7):763-7.
- 18. British Orthopaedic Association. British Orthopaedic Association and British Geriatrics Society; 2007 [Available from: https://www.bgs.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/attachment/2018-05-

02/Blue%20Book%20on%20fragility%20fracture%20care.pdf.

- 19. Wlison C, Roosenhas L, Paramasivan S, Elliot D, Jepsom M, Strong S, et al. Development of a framework to improve the process of recruitment to randomised controlled trials (RCTs): the SEAR (Screened, Eligible, Approached, Randomised) framework. . Trials. 2018;19.
- 20. Avery KN, Williamson PR, Gamble C, O'Connell Francischetto E, Metcalfe C, Davidson P, et al. Informing efficient randomised controlled trials: exploration of challenges in developing progression criteria for internal pilot studies. BMJ Open. 2017;7(2):e013537.
- 21. Sharma V, Modi A, Armstrong A, Pandey R, Sharma D, Singh H. The Management of Distal Clavicle Fractures A Survey of UK Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons. Cureus. 2021;13(8):e17305.
- 22. Qvist AH, Væsel MT, Jensen CM, Jakobsen T, Jensen SL. Minimal Pain Decrease Between 2 and 4 Weeks After Nonoperative Management of a Displaced Midshaft Clavicle Fracture Is Associated with a High Risk of Symptomatic Nonunion. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2021;479(1):129-38.
- 23. Nicholson JA, Clement ND, Clelland AD, MacDonald D, Simpson AHRW, Robinson CM. Displaced Midshaft Clavicle Fracture Union Can Be Accurately Predicted with a Delayed Assessment at 6 Weeks Following Injury: A Prospective Cohort Study. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2020;102(7):557-66.
- 24. Robinson CM, Bell KR, Murray IR. Open Reduction and Tunneled Suspensory Device Fixation of Displaced Lateral-End Clavicular Fractures: Medium-Term Outcomes and Complications After Treatment. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2019;101(15):1335-41.
- 25. Robinson CM, Court-Brown CM, McQueen MM, Wakefield AE. Estimating the risk of nonunion following nonoperative treatment of a clavicular fracture. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2004;86(7):1359-65.

- 26. Angst F, Schwyzer HK, Aeschlimann A, Simmen BR, Goldhahn J. Measures of adult shoulder function: Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand Questionnaire (DASH) and its short version (QuickDASH), Shoulder Pain and Disability Index (SPADI), American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons (ASES) Society standardized shoulder assessment form, Constant (Murley) Score (CS), Simple Shoulder Test (SST), Oxford Shoulder Score (OSS), Shoulder Disability Questionnaire (SDQ), and Western Ontario Shoulder Instability Index (WOSI). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63 Suppl 11:S174-88.
- 27. Hawker GA, Mian S, Kendzerska T, French M. Measures of adult pain: Visual Analog Scale for Pain (VAS Pain), Numeric Rating Scale for Pain (NRS Pain), McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ), Chronic Pain Grade Scale (CPGS), Short Form-36 Bodily Pain Scale (SF-36 BPS), and Measure of Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63 Suppl 11:S240-52.
- 28. Farrar JT, Young JP, LaMoreaux L, Werth JL, Poole MR. Clinical importance of changes in chronic pain intensity measured on an 11-point numerical pain rating scale. Pain. 2001;94(2):149-58.
- 29. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, Janssen MF, Kind P, Parkin D, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Qual Life Res. 2011;20:1727-36.
- 30. van Reenen MaJ B. EQ-5D-5L User Guide 2015 [Version 2.1:[

- 31. Horan TC, Andrus M, Dudeck MA. CDC/NHSN surveillance definition of health care-associated infection and criteria for specific types of infections in the acute care setting. Am J Infect Control. 2008;36(5):309-32.
- 32. Yang JS, Keener JD, Yamaguchi K, Chen J, Stobbs-Cucchi G, Patton R, et al. Reliability of patient self-assessment of shoulder range of motion and strength after shoulder arthroplasty. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2015;24(1):1-10.
- 33. Pattabhiraman NK, Barnes SC, Singh HP. Agreement between patient-based and clinician-based assessment of the shoulder. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2018;27(3):e59-e67.
- 34. NIHR. 2021 [Available from: https://fundingawards.nihr.ac.uk/award/NIHR201031.
- 35. 2 NP. [Available from: https://fundingawards.nihr.ac.uk/award/16/73/03.
- 36. Hillen RJ, Burger BJ, Pöll RG, de Gast A, Robinson CM. Malunion after midshaft clavicle fractures in adults. Acta Orthop. 2010;81(3):273-9.
- 37. Franchignoni F, Vercelli S, Giordano A, Sartorio F, Bravini E, Ferriero G. Minimal clinically important difference of the disabilities of the arm, shoulder and hand outcome measure (DASH) and its shortened version (QuickDASH). J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2014;44(1):30-9.
- 38. Curtis EM, van der Velde R, Moon RJ, van den Bergh JP, Geusens P, de Vries F, et al. Epidemiology of fractures in the United Kingdom 1988-2012: Variation with age, sex, geography, ethnicity and socioeconomic status. Bone. 2016;87:19-26.
- 39. Office of National Statistics. Clinical commissioning group population estimates. 2019 [Available from:
- https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/clinicalcommissioninggroupmidyearpopulationestimates.
- 40. Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government. English indices of deprivation 2019 [Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019.

41. NHS Digital. Ethnicity categories using GDPPR and HES datasets by CCG. 2020 [Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/areas-of-interest/ethnicity.

- 42. Moher D, Hopewell S, Schulz KF, Montori V, Gøtzsche PC, Devereaux PJ, et al. CONSORT 2010 explanation and elaboration: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. J Clin Epidemiol. 2010;63:e1-e37.
- 43. Gillies K, Kearney A, Keenan C, Treweek S, Hudson J, Brueton VC, et al. Strategies to improve retention in randomised trials. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;3:MR000032.
- 44. Mitchell N, Hewitt CE, Lenaghan E, Platt E, Shepstone L, Torgerson DJ, et al. Prior notification of trial participants by newsletter increased response rates: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Epidemiol. 2012;65(12):1348-52.
- 45. Dias JJ, Brealey SD, Fairhurst C, Amirfeyz R, Bhowal B, Blewitt N, et al. Surgery versus cast immobilisation for adults with a bicortical fracture of the scaphoid waist (SWIFFT): a pragmatic, multicentre, open-label, randomised superiority trial. Lancet. 2020;396(10248):390-401.
- 46. Leighton PA, Brealey SD, Dias JJ. Interventions to improve retention in a surgical, clinical trial: A pragmatic, stakeholder-driven approach. J Evid Based Med. 2018;11(1):12-9.
- 47. StataCorp. Stata Statistical Software: Release 17. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC; 2021.
- 48. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Guide to the methods of technology appraisal 2013. Report No.: PMG9. 2013.
- 49. Jones K, Burns A. Unit Costs of Health and Social Care 2021. University of Kent, Canterbury: Personal Social Services Research Unit; 2021.
- 50. NHS England NHS Improvement. National Cost Collection 2020/21 July 2022 [Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/2020-21-national-cost-collection-data-publication/.
- 51. van Hout B, Janssen MF, Feng YS, Kohlmann T, Busschbach J, Golicki D, et al. Interim scoring for the EQ-5D-5L: mapping the EQ-5D-5L to EQ-5D-3L value sets. Value In Health. 2012;15(5):708-15.
- 52. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Position statement on use of the EQ-5D-5L value set for England London: NICE (updated October 2019); 2019 [Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-we-do/our-programmes/nice-guidance/technology-appraisal-guidance/eq-5d-5l.
- 53. Richardson G, Manca A. Calculation of quality adjusted life years in the published literature: a review of methodology and transparency. Health Economics. 2004;13(12):1203-10.
- 54. Fenwick E, Claxton K, Sculpher M. Representing uncertainty: the role of cost-effectiveness acceptability curves. Health Economics 2001;10:779-87.
- 55. Claxton K, Martin S, Soares M, Rice N, Spackman E, Hinde S, et al. Methods for the estimation of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence cost-effectiveness threshold. Health Technol Assess. 2015;19(14):1-503, v-vi.
- 56. Rubin D, B. Statistical Matching Using File Concatenation with Adjusted Weights and Multiple Imputations. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics. 1986;4(1):87-94.
- 57. Faria R, Gomes M, Epstein D, White IR. A guide to handling missing data in cost-effectiveness analysis conducted within randomised controlled trials. Pharmacoeconomics. 2014;32(12):1157-70.

58. Yagnik GP, Seiler JR, Vargas LA, Saxena A, Narvel RI, Hassan R. Outcomes of Arthroscopic Fixation of Unstable Distal Clavicle Fractures: A Systematic Review. Orthop J Sports Med. 2021;9(5):23259671211001773.

- 59. Granlund AS, Troelsen A, Ban I. Indications and complications in relation to removal of clavicle implants. Dan Med J. 2017;64(12).
- 60. World Medical Association. Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects 2013 [Available from: https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/.
- 61. Medical Device Regulations. UK Statutory Instruments 2002 [Available from: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/618/contents/made.
- 62. The Health Research Authority and the UK Health Departments. UK Policy Framework for Health an Social Care Research 2022 [updated 01 August 2022. Available from: https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improving-research/policies-standards-legislation/uk-policy-framework-health-and-social-care-research/#audience.
- 63. Medical Research Council. Good research practice: Principles and guidelines 2012 [Available from: https://www.ukri.org/publications/principles-and-guidelines-for-good-research-practice/.
- 64. Data Protection Act, 2018: Data Protection Act 2018 [Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/data-protection-act-2018.
- 65. Reeves K, Chan S, Marsh A, Gallier S, Wigley C, Khunti K, et al. Implementation of research evidence in orthopaedics: a tale of three trials. BMJ Qual Saf. 2020;29(5):374-81.
- 66. Jefferson L, Brealey S, Handoll H, Keding A, Kottam L, Sbizzera I, et al. Impact of the PROFHER trial findings on surgeons' clinical practice: An online questionnaire survey. Bone Joint Res. 2017;6(10):590-9.